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ROADS ACROSS BUCKSKIN 
MOUNTAIN 

by 
P. T. Reilly 

N EAR THE END OF ITS FIRST DECADE in the Great Basin, the 
lV1onnon hierarchy found itself in difficulties. Deseret 

was occupied by Federal troops and there was considerable 
doubt that the Saints could continue to thrive with these out­
siders in their n1idst. Church leaders judged that it would be 
wise to establish an escape route into New Mexico Territory 
(which then included Arizona) and possibly into Mexico itself. 
They were influenced also by the waves of new converts from 
Europe who needed hon1es and were causing rapid expansion. 
Soon they had preen1pted the benches of the Virgin River basin 
in the southwest corner of the future State of Utah and more 
land was needed. The territory to the south was a last frontier 
and would belong to the settlers who got there first. In 1858 
Jacob Han1blin headed an expedition to the Hopi mesas, bring­
ing back the first account of the lands beyond the Colorado 
River and the easiest way to reach them. The great problem was 
to find a route through the rocky wilderness now known as the 
Arizona Strip, particularly across the Kaibab Plateau. 

Geologists define this feature as the "Kaibab Upwarp" and 
point out that it is one of half a dozen such deformations on the 
Colorado Plateau. Indians, recognizing that it was different 
fron1 the other systen1s of peaks and intervening ridges, called it 
"Kaibab" or "lV1ountain Lying Down." 

P. T. Reilh is a man of mam talents and interesL~ \\·ho has moved from California 
to Sun Cit.Y. Arizona, after twentv-hvc years in management for Lockheed Air­
craft Corporation. His major interest as guide, conservationist, photographer 
and \niter is the Grand Canvon and its area. He is nm\· at work on a book about 
Lee's Fern. 
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The upwarp is an elongated blister whose 6ooo-foot el­
evation is roughly thirty miles wide and seventy rniles long. 
Much of its crest is over 7000 feet, and the sununit is n1ore than 
9300 feet above sea level. Dissected on the south by the Colo­
rado River and the sheer walls of Grand Canyon, the great 
ridge appears to stretch infinitely into the northern horizon. It 
was an effective barrier to the only feasible crossing of the Colo­
rado for. 6oo n1iles. 

When Jacob Han1blin returned to the settlernents on 
December 4, 1858, he brought with hin1 son1e interesting and 
valuable information. He had a capable guide, a Paiute narned 
Naraguts, "·ho had taken the white rnen over an ancient route 
between the Yirgin River and Oraibi. He used the mid-moun­
tain trail, a route whose western approach was not distinguished 
by specific landmarks and thus was difficult to find by anyone 
not familiar with the area. The men understood enough of the 
native tongue to learn that the Indians referred to the ridge as 
"the place where they obtained buckskin." These highlands 
have abounded with deer since tin1e in1rnernorial and primitive 
man utilized the animals for food and clothing at least 4000 
years ago. 1 The white men translated the Indian phrase into 
English as Buckskin Mountain, and Andrew S. Gibbons, one of 
the missionaries, used the name in his journal entry of Decenl­
ber 18, 1858 -the first time it was recorded. 

Outward bound, Hamblin crossed the ridge and moved 
eastward. He waded Paria Creek and joined the n1ain trail into 
central Utah near Wahweap Creek, tur.ning south to ford the 
Colorado at the Crossing of the Fathers (so named for Father 
Escalante's visit in 1776), usually called Ute Ford. 2 On the 
return trip he came to the conclusion that this route was not 
only difficult, but had taken hin1 miles out of his way. It was 
necessary for travelers on foot or on horseback to use the Ute 
Ford, but he reasoned that if a boat were available at the mouth 
of Paria Creek, thirty-five miles downstream, the journey could 
be shortened by several days. Jacob's plan was not tried for six 
years, and it would be fifteen years before Lee's Ferry was estab­
lished there, but the idea was good and ultimately the crossing 
proved to be a vital link in 1\formon ernigration to the Little 
Colorado. 
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Buckskin ~fountain was still the great barrier to this 
shorter route and finding a way across it was a nl£~jor problen1 
for the Mormons during the next fe\\· years. 

The Indians, of course, had been crossing for centuries, 
and their aboriginal trails represented more than seasonal 
pathways between springs or between winter and sutntDer hab­
itats; they were part of a far-flung system which included trans­
Colorado River trade routes between the people living on the 
Hopi mesas and such faraway groups as those based along the 
Virgin River and others in south-central Utah. In son1e cases 
the indigenous footpaths provided the blueprint for Anglo 
travel and were soon rutted by wheeled vehicles. 

vVater availability has been the key to human activity on 
Buckskin ~fountain. ~Ielt\\·ater on the high places either evap­
orates as sun11ner progresses or it filters into fracture-zones 
of the surface rock to be held in storage and then emerge as 
gravity-How springs at lo\\·er elevations. These springs sus­
tained the Indian hunters and were no less important to those 
who superseded then1. ~Ieadows, forests and shallow basins 
containing seasonal ponds of stHnnDelt are scattered along the 
higher parts of the mountain. \Vinter snows are deep and the 
ample moisture sustains abundant growths of tin1ber and 
browse. The upper elevations have extensive forests of conifers 
and aspen, while the intermediate slopes are thick with piilon, 
juniper and cliffrose. 

Access to this rugged land was difficult but it could be 
reached from several directions. Five 111~jor canyons head in the 
Jacob Lake area, where the highway fron1 ~Iarble Canyon to 
Kanab and St. George crosses the ridge today, and all were used 
by travelers prior to 1900. On his first expedition, Hamblin 
followed a trail up Jacob Canyon. His second expedition, in 
1859, was n1ade without a guide and the party, mon1entarily lost 
and unable to find the regular traiL ascended the tnountain by 
way of LeFevre Canyon a few tniles to the north. The chief 
results of the traverse were twofold: First, the Saints \\·ailed up 
Cane Spring at the foot of the Vennilion Cliffs on October 26 
and named it "Jacob's Pools." Then, on ~larch 4 and 5, 186o, 
Thales Haskell and ~Iarion Shelton visited the Hopi fanns at 
Moenkopi. They had been urged to do so by Chief Tuba, who 

j 
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john D. Lee, Arizona Strip 
homesteader, founder and 

operator of Lee's Ferry. 

Jacob Hamblin, pathfinder 
on the Strip. 
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foresaw that l\forn1on settlement there would stabilize that area 
of badly needed fannland against 1\' av£~jo depredations; but the 
hon1esick white n1en were not itnpressed at that tin1e. Tuba City 
would con1e later.a 

To Isaac Riddle goes the distinction of driving the first 
wagon over Buckskin :Mountain. This stalwart had built a srnall 
flatboat in support of Hamblin's 186o expedition to Oraibi. It 
was loaded on a wagon to be driven to the mouth of Paria 
Creek, where it would be used to ferry the Colorado. Toil and 
perseverance brought the wagon to a dry Gln1p at the foot of 
Buckskin l\fountain on October 18. There it was decided that 
the previous year's route would be more accessible for the 
\vagon than the n1ore difficult clitnb up Jacob Canyon. Accord­
ingly some of the n1en took the wagon north a few miles to 
LeFevre Canyon while the others continued along the trail. The 
two groups n1et at the top of the tnountain and on the 2oth 
broke a new track down the steep east slope. The descent was 
described in these words:" ... went down the East side of the n1t. 
the roufest road I ever saw a wagon taken." 4 

Enos, the Paiute guide, led them to the spring which would 
be given the name "House Rock" a decade later. The twelve­
mile span between there and Jacob's Pools, as noted by 
innumerable later travelers, was very sandy. It wore out man 
and beast and accon1plished the thing Buckskin Mountain had 
not been able to do; it halted the wagon. Isaac Riddle's boat and 
wagon \vere left at the Pools and the party proceeded on 
horseback. 

When they reached the mouth of Paria Creek, three of the 
men built a raft and achieved the first Anglo crossing of the 
Colorado at this place. Although they reached the opposite 
bank and ascertained that animals could clitnb it, they found the 
shore sealed off by quicksand and the raft rode too low in the 
water to ferry the equipment. Consequently the attempt to cross 
there was abandoned and the party ascended the Sand Trail 
and went on to the Ute Ford, where they crossed at twilight on 
October 28. A party of Navajos killed George A. Smith, Jr., at 
Moenkopi Wash on November 2 and plundered Hamblin's sup­
plies and trade goods. The rest of the party hastily retreated the 



Roads Across Buckskin Mountain 

House Rock, a photo of the primitive shelter taken by Will C. Barnes in 
july, 1933. 
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way they had come. They picked up Isaac Riddle's wagon at the 
Pools but left the boat. 

By this titne 1\i avajo raiders were becon1ing a special prob­
len1 to the ~forn1ons, who were expanding eastward in the Strip 
and cmning closer to Buckskin .Mountain. In 1863 jan1es l\1. 
vVhitn1ore secured title to 160 acres at Pipe Spring,5 an in1por­
tant stopping point west of the mountain, vulnerable to attack. 
The Indians would slip across the crest, steal as n1any horses as 
they could, hustle the anin1als over Buckskin l\fountain by one 
trail or another and, if the Colorado \\·as found to be frozen 
over, cross them on the ice at the n1outh of Paria Creek. If not, 
they Inoved up to the Ute Ford. 

After a particularly heavy raid on the comn1unity horse 
herd early in 1 864, a well-armed group of l\fonnons gathered 
at Pipe Spring to atten1pt recovery of the stock. Jacob Hatnblin 
was appointed leader, and the very capable Jarnes G. Bleak, 
clerk. Bleak evidently carried a cmnpass because he designated 
the courses of their various segtnents by its points and estimated 
the mileage of each leg, thereby allowing us to reconstruct the 
route between named points with reasonable accuracy. Thus \re 
can say that by this time the mid-mountain trail which went by 
way of Jacob and Trail Canyons was well known and frequently 
traveler!. 

Bleak not only used the now-accepted place names of Pipe 
Spring, Buckskin Mountain, and Jacob's Pools, but he called 
attention to two new ones, Soap Creek and Navajo Spring. 
After noting on March 18 that the party found the flatboat of 
the aborted 186o trip still nearly intact at the wood-scarce Pools, 
he n1entioned "Soap Creek." 

Left-bank egress had not been accomplished at the 
confluence of Paria Creek and the Colorado in 186o, but now a 
larger raft was built and several crossings achieved on l\Iarch 
20, 2 1, and 2 2, 1864. fi This \\·as a milestone in ~lonnon 
expansion and a forerunner of things to come. The next day 
the n1en follo\red an Indian trail up the steep ledge and down a 
rocky slope to some greenery at the base of the cliff. They 
named the water here "I\iavc~jo Spring." Both the rough ledge 
and the spring were destined to become well-known to ~lorn1on 
pioneers. 

[ 386 ] 
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In noting that the return trip over Buckskin ::\fountain was 
n1ade through deep snow, Bleak said a full day was required to 
reach the mouth of ''Big Canyon." Jacob's nan1e, then, was not 
attached to this tributarv until later. 

Doctor \Vhitmore's ranch was not the only outpost on the 
.\lonnon frontier in I H64. The Berry brothers and others had 
pushed into Long Valley; .\loccasin Spring was the \rater source 
for the Rhodes and Alexander ranches; Hyrun1 Strong and a 
number of other individuals \\·ere scattered along the flats of 
Kanab Creek where a log fort was built on its left bank at the 
northern edge of the future townsite. Forty rniles east of these 
settlers Peter Shirts lived on a bench of Paria Creek. 

But the expansion of wagon tracks was halted early in Jan­
uary of r866 when raiding Navajos rnurdered Whitmore and 
his herder, Robert ~kintyre, touching off the southern phase 
of the Black Hawk \Var. Outlying ranches were abandoned as 
the settlers withdrew to the Virgin River hamlets. 

Hostility among the Southern Paiutes never reached an 
intense stage and their need of retaliatory justice appears to 
have been satisfied by killing the three Berrys on April 2. After 
this relations in1proved and in Septen1ber Ira Hatch led a party 
of:Morn1ons and local friendly Indians on a goodwill tour of the 
eastern bands, resulting in the natives' agreeing to share-har­
vest the crops on the abandoned Long Valley farms. 7 Jacob 
Han1blin repeated the visit in the spring and planted more 
crops. That fall he persuaded son1e young Paiutes to help him 
guard the Cte Crossing and thereby prevent Navajo 
infiltration.H 

Jacob's guard-duty and peacen1aking activities were con­
tinued during the winter of I868-69 and conditions improved 
to the extent that Kanab's log fort was refurbished in Septem­
ber and was occupied by a force of l\1onnons and Paiutes.n It is 
n1ost probable that the water source which came to be known as 
"~avajo \Veil," fourteen n1iles east of Kanab Creek, was shown 
to Jacob by the Paiutes who aided hin1 in guard duty during the 
"·inter of r869-70. 

Jacob's Indian farn1 on Kanab Creek was successful and 
early in the spring of I H7o he set up another at the Peter Shirts 
Ranch on Paria Creek, under \Villian1 l\1eeks. This became 



THE JOURNAL OF ARIZONA HISTORY 

known as Fort 1\:feeks and was the original site of Pahreah. By 
late :March a guardhouse and corral had been built, one and a 
half n1iles of ditch constructed, and six acres of \\'heat planted. 
Eight Paiute men, two women, and six children were at work on 
the project. 10 Soon a wagon road passing NaYajo \Veil was estab­
lished between the Kanab and Paria farms, at that time the n1ost 
ren1ote route on the southeastern frontier. 

President Brigham Young, in the spring of 187o, "called'' a 
number of Salt Lake fcunilies to n1ake new homes in the south. 
The settlers arrived that sununer to take up ten1porary quarters 
in the refurbished fort. The president hitnself arrived later and 
selected Kanab townsite on Septetnber 1 o. During this visit he 
instructed John D. Lee and the ne,dy appointed bishop, Levi 
Stewart, to install a steatn-driven sawmill which was already en 
route to the outpost. He further requested Lee to n1ove to the 
area. 

Lee chose Skututnpah (nO\\' Alton, Utah) for his newest 
home and set up the sawtnill there. The equiptnent was old and 
badly worn but son1e lun1ber was cut between tnill breakdowns. 
including that for A. P. \Vinsor's stronghold, known as \~Vinsor 
Castle, then being erected at Pipe Spring. Lee had little faith 
that the old tnachinery could be kept running consistently. and 
after an extraordinary streak of high production in the spring 
of 1871, sold his share to his partner's son, John Stewart. 11 The 
new owner n1oved the tnill to Big Spring west of the ridge in 
l\1ay; exploitation of Buckskin l\fountain's resources by the 
white tnan had begun and the mountain was scarred by its first 
regularly used road. 12 

\Vhen John \\lesley Powell's cre\\' landed at the mouth of 
Paria Creek in October, 1871, they found a well-worn trail 
between there and Kanab. It followed around the Vennilion 
Cliffs to Jacob's Pools and House Rock Spring, went north\\'est 
across the neck of the valley for almost three miles, then cut 
west up an open slope. The trail topped out after gaining 18oo 
feet and turned north over the rolling but steady descent for 
eleven n1iles. It then assumed a north\\'est heading to Navajo 
\Veil and from there went west to the mouth ofJohnson Canyon 
and subsequently to Kanab. Less than a mile east of 1\avajo \Yell 
it joined the ruts from Fort 1\feeks, now becoming known as 
"Pahreah." 1:3 
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Roads Across Buckskin l'vtmmtain 

Powell's crew followed this trail and used the watering 
places as others had done before them. They pulled into camp 
at House Rock Spring on November 8 and made official this 
narr1e which someone had facetiously written on a boulder with 
charcoal. 14 Packer Riley, who had traveled the route several 
tin1es, brought the men to the base camp near Kanab, and the 
descriptions in the journals of Walter C. Powell and F. ~1. 
Bishop identif)' the route beyond question. 15 

\Vhile the Powell men were preparing for the next phase 
of the survey, the plans of the Saints also were progressing. 
Several men had been assigned the job of locating and making a 
road over Buckskin Mountain which would allow wagons to 
reach the Colorado at the mouth of Paria Creek. 

Logically enough, the crew utilized as much of the Pahreah 
road as possible. Seven n1iles past Navajo \Veil they departed 
fron1 it to ascend a broad, open slope near the north end of the 
rnountain. 11

' Their road bore generally southeast for three 
miles, then headed south clin1bing steadily for seven miles 
through pinon and juniper. It intersected the trail between 
Navajo \Veil and House Rock Spring, then descended the east­
ern slope five miles to Coyote Valley. Again the road turned 
south to cross the divide and lead toward House Rock Spring, a 
distance of I 2.6 rniles. 1 7 

At least this was the pn~ected route selected by the so­
called "road com rnission" headed by I. C. Haight, his son-in-law 
Daniel S. ~1acFarlane, and John ~I. Higbee, but their road­
building failed to reach the trail intersection. 1 8 

John D. Lee encountered the opposition of the above 
worthies late in November of I 871 when he endeavored to take 
sixty-five head of cattle and three wagons over the projected 
road to his latest refuge on the Colorado River. The road­
builders o~jected to the dust raised by the cattle, so Jacob Ham­
blin effected a cornpron1ise in which Lee was to continue with 
his cattle on the established road to Pahreah and then drive 
them down the creek to its mouth. 19 Haight and his companions 
were to pilot the wagons over the road they had supposedly 
built and meet Lee at his new homesite. 

Lee kept his part of the bargain but the others did not. 
Aided by John 1VIangun1 and Thorr1as Adair, he drove his cattle 
where white men had never been. It is approximately fifty miles 
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fron1 Pahreah to the Colorado River, thirty-two tniles of which 
are bound in an impressive canyon. The "1\arrows," a section of 
four miles, offers no hope of escape should a Aash Aood 
occur. 20 After eight difficult days Lee and his cotnpanions 
arrived at the river to find no sign of the wagons. 

Bac ktrailing to Sk ut u m pah, Lee found that one of his 
\rives, only six weeks from delivering a baby, had had enough of 
the new "road" after a mile or so and had returned to Kanab. 
Another wagon had broken an axle and been left at the scene of 
the accident where its contents of on.T a thousand pounds of 
supplies were ravaged by the ,,·ild life. The third wagon had 
returned to the ranch. 

Lee reassetnbled his outfit and ,,·ith a brother-in-law and a 
nineteen-year-old son as adult help, n1ade another run at the 
mountain. No one knows how much ne\,. road was built, ho\\· 
Inany trees felled, how Inany rocks moved, but in the waning 
days of Decetnber, 1871, Lee brought three wagons to the place 
destined to bear his name. 

:Monnon policy was to dotninate the land by controlling the 
water. and at the end of ~larch, 187 2, Lee \\·as directed to stake 
claims at House Rock Spring and Jacob's Pools. Already pros­
pectors were beginning to swarm into the country, n1otivated by 
the publicity accruing from Powell's 1869 traverse of the Colo­
rado. Soon their wagon tracks, along with others, had deepened 
the Lee ruts and the first road over Buckskin ~lountain \\·as 
established. 

A vear after Lee had labored to cross the mountain. 
Thomas \Vashington Smith arrived at the mouth of the Paria 
with t\n> large timbers- the gunwales for the first ferryboat 
capable of crossing a \\·agon. The twent~·-six-foot timbers. spe­
cially cut at the Stewart tnill, \HTe the longest load to be taken 
over the rough road up to this time. 

Less than a week before the ferry was launched on january 
11, 1873, Lee and Sn1ith located a way of egress frmn the river's 
left bank. But before the road could be constructed, a twelve­
man party headed by Lorenzo \V. Roundy arrived to explore 
the country beyond the river. Their wagons were left with Lee 
as the explorers crossed with fourteen pack anitnals. 

Roundy's party returned on the 25th and told the fer-

[ 39° ] 
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John D. Lee's stick-and-mud house at Jacob's Pools. Lee homesteaded the desolate spot · 
in 1872 under instructions from the Church. Below, Lee's Ferry in operation in 
September, 1897. 
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ry1nan to expect einigrants to Arizona that season. In fact, the 
emigrants were then on the way and their vanguard arrived on 
April 22. 

Although the Horton D. Haight colonization attempt 
failed, the pioneer road was established beyond the Colorado 
River and within three years carried considerable traffic 
between Utah and the outpost at 1\foenkopi. When the wagon­
trains of the four Arizona con1panies began crossing the moun­
tain in 1\farch, 1876, and streaming into the Territory for per­
manent settlement, a two-way traffic was set up and the road 
which had caused John D. Lee so Inuch heartache and travail 
became an inter-territorial artery known as the "Arizona Road." 

Establishn1ent of a post office at Lee's Ferry on April 2 3, 
187g, increased the use of the Indian trail between House Rock 
Spring and Navajo Well. The mail carriers traveled on horse­
back, and the trail from Kanab, by heading southeast to the 
mountain after it emerged fron1 Pioneer Gap a half mile north­
east of Navajo \Vell, was over ten miles shorter than the road. 
Before long this became known as the "Mail Trail." 

Stockmen from Orderville in southern Utah were respon­
sible for beginning another route over the mountain. The 
United Order, organized throughout Utah by President 
Brigham Young in 1874, enlarged hon1e industry into commu­
nal enterprises which employed available labor as needed. As 
the town herds grew, however, ranges expanded. In most 
instances, the various Orders made little i1npact and after a year 
or two the communities drifted back to private enterprise. 
Operations contracted. Individuals once again controlled 
ranges, dairies and sawmills. There was just one exception: the 
United Order at Orderville. In this comtnunity communal­
minded people, especially those possessing little property, 
joined in the hope that group endeavor would provide them 
\Vith more than their individual efforts had been able to do. 
Orderville's herds extended to distant ranges, ranches were 
incorporated on shares, and dairies were established wherever 
there was sufficient water. The meadows of Buckskin Mountain 
were utilized for a sutnmer range at least by 1 877, for that fall 
the herders emulated the indigenous Paiutes by wintering their 
animals in House Rock Valley. 21 Orderville's \vagons broke new 
tracks but this record has not been preserved. 
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A. P. \Vinsor and his brother had rnade a range survey in 
~lay, 1872. The superintendent of the \Vinsor Stock Growing 
Con1pany now n1aintained that the road over Buckskin ~foun­
tain was rnuch too far north; he claimed that he could ride from 
\Vinsor Castle to the sumtnit in forty n1iles. This was not an 
exaggeration and on ~fay 22, 1876, Brighan1 Young,Jr., looked 
west frmn the summit and agreed "·ith him. The apostle further 
noted that his party had traveled in a great arc to reach this 
place. 22 

People in general, including Apostle Erastus Snow who 
headed ~formon activity in southern Utah, concurred that the 
road was roundabout, but there was not enough labor on hand 
to relocate it. The fabulous strike at Silver Reef in 1876 
siphoned local n1anpower as the cash-poor Saints hauled lum­
ber and produce to the boom town. On December 15, 1878, 
Kanab Stake President L. John Nuttall noted ruefully that half 
of Kanab's able-bodied rnen were engaged in such freighting. 23 

Action was taken finally during a meeting in Orderville on 
December g, 188o, and a leading citizen named john Rider was 
appointed to locate a new road. 24 Rider knew that any cutoff 
would still have to cross the n1ountain at its lower north end 
because n1ost travel took place between October and March 
when the higher elevations were deep in snow. Therefore he 
departed from the Pahreah road at the east side of Pioneer Gap 
a short distance past Navajo vVell and headed for the mountain 
along the ~fail Trail, intersecting the older road where it turned 
east. During the winter of 188o-81 twelve men from Long Val­
ley and Kanab, using four tean1s, labored to make the route 
passable for wagons. 25 

In August of 1881 Erastus Snow, Brigham Young,Jr., and 
a large party gathered at Navajo Well en route to the Little 
Colorado settlements. The flats were covered in short order but 
the brief, steep slope up the mountain proved very difficult. 
Ho,vever, the summit was attained. Then instead of descending 
the old road the wagons turned south, probably following some 
rough ruts recently cut by the Orderville stockmen. The coun­
try was gently rolling, although constantly rising, and the broad 
hollow which drained the north slope even then was known as 
Orderville Canyon. Apostle Snov/s report was indefinite on 
how far he traveled south, saying the party descended the 
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mountain "some 1 o or 20 miles south of House Rock." 26 Very 
likely they went to Pleasant Valley, then followed the south 
trans-mountain trail to Cane Canyon. By heading for Jacob's 
Pools from this location they bypassed Inost of the difficult sand 
between the Pools and House Rock Spring. 

Orderville's United Order declined over a period of years 
and was dissolved in 1885. Its mc~jor asset had been its far­
ranging herds. At the breakup various individuals took live­
stock for their equities and continued using the san1e range. 
One of these individuals was Fred Tilton, who ran sheep on the 
north end of Buckskin lVIountain. He began using the cutoff 
which the two apostles had tried in 1881, and by 18go the road 
carried Tilton's name and the bulk of the traffic. 27 But freight­
ers with heavy loads were still forced to take the longer route. 

On lVIay 2 1, 1886, a tragedy occurred which brought a ne,,· 
name to Buckskin lVfountain. Samuel Clevenger and his wife, 
migrating fron1 Arizona to Utah, had stopped at the custon1ary 
can1ping place on top of the n1oun tain where firewood was 
abundant and water sornetimes available in nearby potholes. 
That night the elderly couple were n1urdered by their hired 
n1an, who continued north the next day with the outfit. 2

H Trav­
elers later found the hastily buried bodies, and frmn that tin1e 
the place has been known as "Deadman's Hollow" or sin1ply 
"Deadman." 

About the tin1e that Fred Tilton resurrected the John 
Rider route, Lucius "Luke" Fuller, also of Kanab, began grazing 
his sheep east from the flats adjoining Johnson Wash, about ten 
miles southeast from town. Fredonia had been founded south 
of the Utah line in the spring of 1885, partly because of 
increased anti-polygan1y legislation in Congress (which made it 
desirable for polygamists to have a second ho1ne in Arizona) 
and partly because of the disastrous flood ofJ uly 29, 1883. This 
rekindled private enterprise among both stockn1en and lum­
bermen, and they pushed tcnvard Buckskin lVlountain. Lum­
bermen built a road up LeFevre Canyon (which n1ade the trav­
eling much smoother than Isaac Riddle had found) and 
established 2. sawn1ill at Jacob Lake. Luke Fuller sin1ply followed 
the LeFevre Canyon road for seven miles out of Fredonia, then 
angled off to the northeast. 29 His route ascended the rnountain 
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three and a half miles southwest of the place where the Tilton 
Road left the flat, and it joined the Pioneer Road in Deadn1an 's 
Hollow four miles farther along than the Tilton junction. The 
Fuller Road was close to the course A. P. \Vinsor had 
envisioned. 

Cattleman Benjamin Franklin Saunders had bought the 
Parashont Ranch from the Canaan Cooperative Stock Com­
pany in 1HH:). bringing his Bar Z brand into the country. By 
18~):) he began extending his holdings east\\·ard and in rapid 
succession acquired Canaan. Cane Beds, and Pipe Spring. In 
October of that year he obtained control of Big Spring by filing 
lode claims on the Harris Ranch and the water outlet. On Feb­
ruary 24-. 189~). his agent purchased the entire range rights 
from Kanab Canyon to Soap Creek, from the rin1 of the Grand 
Can von to the Utah line. In each instance. lode dain1s and mill­
sites were filed at the m<~jor springs, including the seasonal 
ponds such as Jacob and Lamb Lakes. Saunders' Bar Z \\·as on 
the 1narch.:w 

Cattlen1en were not the onl v trail breakers. ~1otivated bv 
' / 

the widely publicized R. B. Stanton boat trip through Grand 
Canyon in tHH9~)0, prospectors began swanning over the 
slopes of Buckskin l\fountain. Low-grade copper ore was found 
near the mouth of \'Varm Springs Canyon and claims were 
staked as early as February, 1890, resulting in the growth of a 
sn1all prospecting community ,,·hich eventually became the site 
of Ryan.:n The place boo1ned at the turn of the century and 
before long a road was pushed up \\rarn1 Springs Canyon to the 
s1nall coinmunity at Jacob's Lake. 

Saunders ,,·as willing to spend money for itnprovements 
and he had more corrals and fences built, houses erected or 
itn proved. roads constructed, and water developed than had 
been clone since the area ,,·as flrst exploited. Shortly after 1goo a 
wagon road replaced the Paiute route down part of Trail Can­
yon, leaving the tributary for a broad spur of the mountain 
about five miles above House Rock Valley. Charlie Lewis, Bar Z 
handpnan, is said to have located the route and blazed the trees 
with his hatchet. 

On December 2, 1907, E. J .. Marshall bought the Bar Z 
range rights and improvements from Saunders and Haley. 
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Two scenes in House Rock Valley: the Grand Canyon Cattle Company headquarters, 
above and cattle at a 640-acre valley ranch. Both pictures were taken by Will C. 
Barnes in 1921. 
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1\Iarshall kept the Bar Z brand but called his new outfit the 
"Grand Canyon Cattle Company." His holdings were scattered 
over nn1ch of the Southwest and the empire was guided by 
General 1\Ianager Henry S. Stephenson, an aggressive man who 
knew the cattle business and was politically astute. 

Stephenson saw the weak link of I\1arshall's setup and pur­
chased the Lee's Ferry equipment and ranch from the Church 
ofJesus Christ of Latter-day Saints on August 18, 1gog. James 
S. Etnett, the last 1\Ionnon proprietor of the historic place, quit­
claitned his interest on Septetnber 11, and thus the Grand Can­
yon Cattle Cotn pany controlled the entire range north of the 
Colorado River, frmn the Echo Cliffs to the crest of Buckskin 
\fountain. Although the cotnpany built the road between Jacob 
Lake and House Rock, and owned the ferry, both were accessi­
ble to all. 

Stephenson went to ,,·ork in11nediately. Coconino County 
\\·as induced to take over operation of Lee's Ferry on June 17, 
19 1 o, and discussions were held with the county supervisors 
regarding road improvetnent and the installation of better facil­
ities at the crossing. A. J. Diamond, County Superintendent of 
Roads, began hauling equiptnent for the ferry and thus 
obtained a \\·orking knowledge of the roads which he had 
agreed to n1aintain. 

The conquest of Buckskin Mountain \Vas pretty much 
completed by the turn of the century, but changes were still to 
come, brought about by a new means of travel- the horseless 
carriage. Wagons were still the mainstay of transportation as the 
twentieth century got under way, but the creaking of animal­
drawn vehicles began to be interspersed with the rumble of the 
gasoline engine. Near the end of the first decade several events 
occurred whose combined effect accelerated change. 

In June, 1909, through the promotion of E. D. Woolley, 
president of the Kanab Stake fron1 1884 to 1910, the first auto­
tnobiles reached the North Ritn of the Grand Canyon. A new 
day was dawning, but it did not exactly con1e up like thunder 
because the narrow, high-pressure tires and relatively low clear­
ance of the ne,,· vehicles were not designed for the roads of that 
region. The first "fire\\·agon" reached Lee's Ferry on November 
I 8 , I ~)l 0 . :3 2 
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The steep Bar Z road on the eastern slope of Buckskin Mountain. Orson Pratt urges 
his team on in an effort to help writer Dane Coolidge's auto up the grade. The photo 
was taken in the 1920s. Below, the old Arizona road as it appears today. 
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Two dozen autotnobiles are said to have been at the open­
ing of the new bridge across the Little Colorado in March, 1912, 
but few ventured far into the inhospitable country beyond. It 
was generally agreed that roads north of this point were to be 
used only in necessity. vVagons and buggies, of course, traveled 
the route frequently. 

The year 191 2 recorded no car crossing the Colorado at 
Lee's Ferry. In the next year, however, t\VO barnstorming 
drivers brought their n1achines to Kanab and for a fee of fifty 
cents gave local residents a high-speed round trip to Fredonia. 
Some of the passengers were experiencing their first ride in an 
automobile.33 In 1914 two n1otorcars traveled from Utah over 
Buckskin ~fountain, crossed Lee's Ferry on August 22 and 
November 4, and continued on to Flagstaff. 34 Bet\veen 1919 
and 1923 the traffic varied from a low of four cars in 1922 to a 
high of thirty-five in 1920. The total in 1920 was swelled by the 
auto caravan of Arizona Governor Thomas E. Campbell, who, 
as Jacob Han1blin had done fifty-eight years before him, 
encircled the Grand Canyon. But where Hamblin had made 
forty miles per day on horseback, Campbell easily made 250 
miles per day. In 1924 over 300 cars passed from Utah to 
Arizona. 

Travel was still difficult, especially from the north. The 
road over Buckskin Mountain was not only rocky and cor­
rugated but unbelievably steep on the eastern slope. When the 
~farble Gorge Bridge was dedicated on June 14, 1929, an 
estimated 3000 cars attended the two-day celebration and many 
of thern used this route. 35 Groups of men were stationed along 
the worst places to augment the faltering engines and slipping 
clutches with tnusde power, indicating that little had really 
changed.36 

In 1931. however, the Bureau of Public Roads relocated 
the route down the mountain's \\-estern descent from Jacob 
Lake, following a longer but more even grade to the valley. 37 

Isaac Riddle's old track up LeFevre Canyon was relocated to the 
ridge of that name in 1932-33Ys On July 26,1935, the entire 
road "·as elevated to the status of a state highway. 3 H By the end 
of 193 7 C .S. Highway 8~) had come into being. In 1941 the 
Bureau of Public Roads, which had improved and maintained 
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the old stockn1en's road between Jacob Lake and the North 
Rim, designated it as a state route. It is now State Highway 67. 

There was one further i1nportant development in the his­
tory of the pioneer trails. In 1957 the Bureau of Reclan1ation 
built a new segment of highway which surmounted the Echo 
Cliffs from Bitter Springs to Glen Canyon Dam, then under 
construction. Glen Canyon Bridge was completed early in 1959, 
allowing the highway from Bitter Springs to meet another 
which had been built eastward from Kanab. The new segment 
was designated "U.S. 89" while the portion between Bitter 
Springs and Fredonia was redesignated "U.S. A89." Thus forty­
one miles of pioneer road between House Rock and Bitter 
Springs \Vas designated "Alternate" while twenty-four miles of 
the original road between Kanab and the foot of the mountain 
were brought into the U.S. 8g right-of-way. 

Anson P. Winsor's drea1n had more than come true. An 
all-weather highway, completed to Fredonia in 1940, crosses 
Buckskin Mountain near its midpoint, and snowplows quickly 
remove winter snow. But the route so laboriously hacked out by 
Haight's road crew and John D. Lee is not identified on official 
maps, and today it is difficult to distinguish from the many jeep 
trails broken by stockmen and seasonal hunters. And the Paiute 
guide Naraguts, who started it all, has no cenotaph erected to 
his memory. In fact, his name never appeared in the record 
after 1858. 

!'\OTES 

1 Robert C. Euler. "The Can von Dwellers," The Amniran H'est, Vol. 4 (:\fay. 1967). p. 3. 
2Present-day place names will be used throughout for purposes of identification. The 
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